

PK Submit™ User's Guide

Applies to: PK Submit™ 1.1

Legal Notice

Phoenix® WinNonlin®, Phoenix NLME[™], IVIVC Toolkit[™], CDISC® Navigator, Certara Integral[™], PK Submit[™], AutoPilot Toolkit[™], Job Management System[™] (JMS[™]), Trial Simulator[™], Validation Suite[™] copyright ©2005-2020, Certara USA, Inc. All rights reserved. This software and the accompanying documentation are owned by Certara USA, Inc. The software and the accompanying documentation may be used only as authorized in the license agreement controlling such use. No part of this software or the accompanying documentation may be reproduced, transmitted, or translated, in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, manual, optical, or otherwise, except as expressly provided by the license agreement or with the prior written permission of Certara USA, Inc.

This product may contain the following software that is provided to Certara USA, Inc. under license: ActiveX® 2.0.0.45 Copyright © 1996-2020, GrapeCity, Inc. AngleSharp 0.9.9 Copyright © 2013-2020 AngleSharp. All rights reserved. Autofac 4.8.1 Copyright © 2014 Autofac Project. All rights reserved. Crc32.Net 1.2.0.5 Copyright © 2016 force. All rights reserved. Formula One® Copyright © 1993-2020 Open-Text Corporation. All rights reserved. Json.Net 7.0.1.18622 Copyright © 2007 James Newton-King. All rights reserved. LAPACK Copyright © 1992-2013 The University of Tennessee and The University of Tennessee Research Foundation; Copyright © 2000-2013 The University of California Berkeley; Copyright © 2006-2013 The University of Colorado Denver. All rights reserved. Microsoft® .NET Framework Copyright 2020 Microsoft Corporation. All rights reserved. Microsoft XML Parser version 3.0 Copyright 1998-2020 Microsoft Corporation. All rights reserved. MPICH2 1.4.1 Copyright © 2002 University of Chicago. All rights reserved. Minimal Gnu for Windows (MinGW, http:// mingw.org/) Copyright © 2004-2020 Free Software Foundation, Inc. NLog Copyright © 2004-2020 Jaroslaw Kowalski <jaak@jkowalski.net>. All rights reserved. Reinforced.Typings 1.0.0 Copyright © 2020 Reinforced Opensource Products Family and Pavel B. Novikov personally. All rights reserved. RtfToHtml.Net 3.0.2.1 Copyright © 2004-2017, SautinSoft. All rights reserved. Sentinel RMS™ 8.4.0.900 Copyright © 2006-2020 Gemalto NV. All rights reserved. Syncfusion® Essential Studio for WinForms 16.4460.0.42 Copyright © 2001-2020 Syncfusion Inc. All rights reserved. TX Text Control .NET for Windows Forms 26.0 Copyright © 19991-2020 Text Control, LLC. All rights reserved. Websites Screenshot DLL 1.6 Copyright © 2008-2020 WebsitesScreenshot.com. All rights reserved. This product may also contain the following royalty free software: CsvHelper 2.16.3.0 Copyright © 2009-2020 Josh Close. DotNetbar 1.0.0.19796 (with custom code changes) Copyright © 1996-2020 Dev-Components LLC. All rights reserved. ImageMagick® 5.0.0.0 Copyright © 1999-2020 ImageMagick Studio LLC. All rights reserved. IMSL® Copyright © 2019-2020 Rogue Wave Software, Inc. All rights reserved. Ninject 3.2 Copyright © 2007-2012 Enkari, Ltd. Software for Locally-Weighted Regression Authored by Cleveland, Grosse, and Shyu. Copyright © 1989, 1992 AT&T. All rights reserved. SQLite (https://www.sqlite.org/copyright.html). Ssh.Net 2016.0.0 by Olegkap Drieseng. Xceed® Zip Library 6.4.17456.10150 Copyright © 1994-2020 Xceed Software Inc. All rights reserved.

Information in the documentation is subject to change without notice and does not represent a commitment on the part of Certara USA, Inc. The documentation contains information proprietary to Certara USA, Inc. and is for use by its affiliates' and designates' customers only. Use of the information contained in the documentation for any purpose other than that for which it is intended is not authorized. NONE OF CERTARA USA, INC., NOR ANY OF THE CONTRIBUTORS TO THIS DOCUMENT MAKES ANY REP-RESENTATION OR WARRANTY, NOR SHALL ANY WARRANTY BE IMPLIED, AS TO THE COMPLETENESS, ACCURACY, OR USEFULNESS OF THE INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS DOCUMENT, NOR DO THEY ASSUME ANY RESPONSIBILITY FOR LIABILITY OR DAMAGE OF ANY KIND WHICH MAY RESULT FROM THE USE OF SUCH INFORMATION.

Destination Control Statement

All technical data contained in the documentation are subject to the export control laws of the United States of America. Disclosure to nationals of other countries may violate such laws. It is the reader's responsibility to determine the applicable regulations and to comply with them.

United States Government Rights

This software and accompanying documentation constitute "commercial computer software" and "commercial computer software documentation" as such terms are used in 48 CFR 12.212 (Sept. 1995). United States Government end users acquire the Software under the following terms: (i) for acquisition by or on behalf of civilian agencies, consistent with the policy set forth in 48 CFR 12.212 (Sept. 1995); or (ii) for acquisition by or on behalf of units of the Department of Defense, consistent with the policies set forth in 48 CFR 227.7202-1 (June 1995) and 227.7202-3 (June 1995). The manufacturer is Certara USA, Inc., 100 Overlook Center, Suite 101, Princeton, New Jersey, 08540.

Trademarks

AutoPilot Toolkit, Integral, IVIVC Toolkit, JMS, Job Management System, NLME, Phoenix, PK Submit, Trial Simulator, Validation Suite, WinNonlin are trademarks or registered trademarks of Certara USA, Inc. NONMEM is a registered trademark of ICON Development Solutions. S-PLUS is a registered trademark of Insightful Corporation. SAS and all other SAS Institute Inc. product or service names are registered trademarks or trademarks of SAS Institute Inc. in the USA and other countries. Sentinel RMS is a trademark of Gemalto NV. Microsoft, MS, .NET, SQL Server Compact Edition, the Internet Explorer logo, the Office logo, Microsoft Word, Microsoft Excel, Microsoft PowerPoint®, Windows, the Windows logo, the Windows Start logo, and the XL design (the Microsoft Excel logo) are trademarks or registered trademarks of Microsoft Corporation. Pentium 4 and Core 2 are trademarks or registered trademarks of Adobe Systems Incorporated. All other brand or product names mentioned in this documentation are trademarks or registered trademarks of their respective companies or organizations.

Certara, L.P. 100 Overlook Center, Suite 101, Princeton, NJ, 08540 USA Telephone: +1.609.716.7900 www.certara.com

Contents

PK Submit	.1
Create PC Domain	3
Select the concentration data files	4
Map the PC variables	5
Manually map variable to data column 6	
Manually map data column to variable	6
Add data column as a new variable	7
Add ADSL and DM variables 7	
Add expression-based columns 10	
Data conversion 11	
Special note about LLOQ	12
Sort the PC result worksheet 12	
Filter the PC result worksheet	13
Identify NCA kave	13
	1/
Build or import dosing data	15
Evolude data	16
	16
	16
	18
Manually select data	10
Lise criteria to select data	10
	21
	23
Configure settings for NCA	2/
Define partial areas 25	. 27
Set up accumulation ratio calculations 25	
Set up metabolite to parent ratio calculations 26	
Validation of PC domain creation	27
	28
Add Exclusion and Comment	20
Create PD Domain	20
Select PK narameters	20
Exclude parameters	20
	31
Liso criteria to soloct parameter	21
Select parameter (no criteria)	32
	22
	22
Les criteris te select personator	. JZ
Select percenter (ne criteria)	.32 20
Velidetien of DD demain erection	.ວ∠ ວວ
	. 33 22
	.33

Terminology mapping. 35 For PC domain creation 35
For PP domain creation
Create RELREC and POOLDEF Domains
Validation of POOLDEF domain creation
Validation of RELREC domain creation
Create Submission Files
Export Submission Files
Preferences
CDISC time formats
Constructed variables
PK Submit Examples
SEND example
SDTM example

PK Submit

PK Submit is a Phoenix Plugin designed to automatically generate the CDISC domains and supporting documentation relevant to non-compartmental analysis (NCA) used in electronic submissions to regulatory agencies as part of an Investigational New Drug (IND) or New Drug Application (NDA).

PK Submit supports the generation of CDISC domains in either the SDTM (Study Data Tabulation Model) or the SEND (Standard for Exchange of Nonclinical Data) format.

CDISC SDTM is a unified way of transmitting information in drug studies with precise column names and a common file format. The CDISC STDM implementation in PK Submit is compliant with the standards in the *SDTM Implementation Guide: Human Clinical Trials version 3.2*.

CDISC SEND is an implementation of SDTM for nonclinical studies and specifies a consistent format for presenting and exchanging nonclinical data. The CDISC SEND implementation in PK Submit is compliant with the standards in the SEND Implementation Guide: Nonclinical Studies Version 3.0/3.1.

The CDISC ADaM implementation in PK Submit is compliant with the standards in the *Analysis Data Model Implementation Guide Version 1.1*.

For further information, please visit the Clinical Data Interchange Standards Consortium Web site at www.cdisc.org.

Using typical study data files as a starting point, PK Submit will do the following:

- Produce Phoenix worksheets
- · Create Phoenix workflow NCA objects
- Produce the requested domain and file output.
- Validate the data according to CDISC Standards and FDA validation rules and generate a validation report.
- *Note:* When updating the PK Submit Phoenix Plugin, be sure to uninstall the previous version of the Plugin before installing the newer version.

This section contains the following topics:

Create PC Domain Add Exclusion and Comment Create PP Domain Create RELREC and POOLDEF Domains Create Submission Files Export Submission Files Preferences CDISC time formats Constructed variables

See also: "PK Submit Examples"

PK Submit <i>User's Guide</i>

Create PC Domain

Select **PK Submit > PC > Create PC Domain** from the main menu.

This wizard allows you to import various input data files (concentration and dosing), perform data exclusions and add comments to data records, as well as configure an NCA.

The PC domain is created from a Master PC worksheet which is created and modified throughout the steps in this wizard. This worksheet contains concentration data from bioanalytical data sets, all PC domain variables, and additional variables needed for the NCA. At the end of this process, PK Submit will use this worksheet to create other worksheets/files in the Data folder:

Creating the PC Domain using the wizard involves the following tasks:

Select the concentration data files Map the PC variables Manually map variable to data column Manually map data column to variable Add data column as a new variable Add ADSL and DM variables Add expression-based columns Data conversion Special note about LLOQ Sort the PC result worksheet Filter the PC result worksheet Identify NCA keys Add new variable Build or import dosing data Exclude data Add comments Time deviation rules Visualization Configure settings for NCA Define partial areas Set up accumulation ratio calculations Set up metabolite to parent ratio calculations Validation of PC domain creation Output

Select the concentration data files

	1.	2.	3.
Standard: SEND	Version: 3.1	Control Terminology: SEND T	erminology 2(~
FileType: Ococ OPC.xp Import: Browse	entration file(s) ot		
s	ource Path	Source Name	Unit Row
	-		
			Next
4., 5.			6.

- 1. In the first page of the wizard, specify the CDISC standard output type from the **STANDARD** pulldown menu.
- 2. Choose the CDISC version from the Version pull-down menu.
- 3. From the **Control Terminology** menu, select the terminology mapping list to use.

Up to five terminology lists can be imported via the Phoenix *Preferences* dialog and appear in this list. See "Preferences" for more information.

4. Select the **Concentration file(s)** radio button and use the **Browse** button to select Excel or .csv files external to Phoenix or, if a project is open in Phoenix, use the **From Selected Phoenix Project** button to select worksheets from the project.

Multiple concentration files can be selected as PC data sources.

Check the **Unit Row** box to indicate that the file contains a row for the units (available for concentration files).

Click the X at the end of the row to remove the corresponding concentration file from the table.

5. Select the **PC.xpt** radio button and use the **Browse** button to select an .xpt file external to Phoenix or, if a project is open in Phoenix, use the **Load PC From Phoenix Project** button to load the PC data from the Data folder.

Only one PC.xpt file can be selected as the PC data source.

- *Note:* When importing from the external system, you must have write permission to the directory where the files being imported are located or an error will be displayed.
 - 6. Click Next.

Map the PC variables



The next page of the wizard provides the ability to map source data columns to PC domain variables and other columns useful for the NCA for each source file selected in the previous page of the wizard. Previously stored mappings are automatically populated from the SQLite database associated with each user profile.

- 1. The first column in the top table lists the Standard PC domain variable names that can be mapped plus other essential variables. The variable names depend on whether SEND or SDTM was specified on the first page of the wizard.
- An NCA button in a source data column cell indicates this variable is or can be designated as an NCA Sort variable.

Click NCA to toggle between a selected Sort variable and NCA, an unselected, but potential, Sort variable. If the button does not switch to unselected, it means the Sort variable is required and cannot be unselected (e.g., USUBJID, PCTEST, PCSPEC). Sometimes there are multiple variables that can be Sort variables, but they are mutually exclusive (e.g., VISITDY or PCDY can be used, but not both). In such cases, when one variable is selected as the Sort variable, the NCA button for the other variables changes to unselected.

- 3. The remaining columns in the Map PC Variables table list the source data column name for each data source selected in the previous page of the wizard, one column per selected data source. If the source data file does not have the mapping for the PC domain variable, the cell is empty. If the empty cell is a required field, it will be highlighted in red.
- 4. For variable or data source columns that have units, use the dropdown menu to select the unit.

The PC Result worksheet panel at the bottom of the page presents the contents of the Master PC worksheet based on the source data columns and the specified mappings. All required and expected SEND/SDTM columns (whether mapped or not) are displayed. Optional columns will be displayed only if they are mapped.

See also:

Manually map variable to data column Manually map data column to variable Add data column as a new variable Add ADSL and DM variables Add expression-based columns Data conversion Special note about LLOQ Sort the PC result worksheet Filter the PC result worksheet

Manually map variable to data column



- 1. Click on the cell to be mapped.
- 2. Select a source data column from the list.
- 3. To unmap a source data column, click on the cell and select the blank area from the list.
- 4. When multiple source data files are present, check the **Apply to row** box to apply the selected source data column to all cells in the row.
- *Note:* PK Submit stores all manual mappings in the SQLite database. These mappings are applied automatically when using PK Submit in subsequent sessions. SQLite database mappings are stored for each user profile.

Manually map data column to variable



Any source data columns that are not mapped to a variable are listed at the bottom of the mapping table. (They are not included in the PC Result Worksheet table at the bottom of the page, however.)

1. Scroll toward the bottom of the mapping table to find the unmapped columns

- 2. Click the down arrow in the cell of the desired unmapped data column to view a list of unmapped variables.
- 3. When multiple source data files are present, click the **Apply to row** box to apply the mapping to all cells in the row.
- 4. Select the variable to be mapped from the list.

The source data column cell will move to the row for the selected variable.

Note: If the study data has the urine volume and unit, you must map the urine volume to the column URINE_VOLUME and the urine volume unit to URINE_VOLUME_UNIT and PCEVLINT.

1. Column Column Form NCA Form Column Column Column Column Column Second Column Column Second Column C

Add data column as a new variable

1. Click the **Left Arrow** button next to the unmapped source data column name (unmapped data are listed at the bottom of the table) to create a new PC domain variable.

The unmapped column name will move into the "Column" column and move up so that it is listed at the bottom of the mapped columns (you may have to scroll up to see it).

- 2. Enter a new name, if desired.
- 3. Use the X button to delete the variable and return the source data column to an unmapped state.

Add ADSL and DM variables

Data for ADSL and DM variables can be merged into the Master PC worksheet.

1. At the bottom of the Map PC Variables page, click the Add ADSL or DM Variables button.

Map P	C Variable	s /								
	Column				PC.x	pt				
STUDY	ID	Require	ⁱ ST	UDYID						
USUB	ADSL DM	Require	4					1		
DCTES	Include Columns				_	Join Column	s			
FCIES	Source Column	Result C	olumn	Converter		Source C	olumn	Result Column	Compare	r
PCORI	TRT01P	TRT01P			×	USUBJID		USUBJID	Equal	×
PCORI	TRT02P	TRT02P			×				Equal	H
PC Re					\bullet					
s	STUDYID	T	DOM	AIN T		USUBJID	T	POOLID	T	PCS
Test Stu		PC			-					_
-		PC					-			_
		PC					-			-
		PC					-			-
		-					+			-
	<									>
					Lo	ad Data	Previe	ew OK	Ca	ncel
<					1	1				
A	dd ADSL or D	M Varia	bles	Data V	Vizaro	i Dat	a Con	verter P	reviou	

2. Use the Load Data button to select an ADSL and/or DM file external to Phoenix.

If a project is open in Phoenix, use the **Load Data From Phoenix Project** button to load the data from the Data folder.

- 3. Use the **ADSL** and **DM** tabs at the top to switch between the two domains.
- 4. Click the **Preview** button at the bottom to show the merged data in the Master PC Worksheet at the bottom of the dialog.

Newly added columns of data will appended to the Worksheet table, so you may have to scroll to the last column(s) to see the data.

The following instructions are applicable in both tabs.

To add data columns

Use the "Include Columns" table to add columns from the ADSL or DM variable source file to Master PC worksheet.

1. Click in the **Source Column** cell and select the name of the source data column to add.

2. If needed, click in the **Result Column** cell and edit the name that will appear in the Master PC worksheet as the column header.

Click + to confirm the addition of the row to the "Include Column" table.

Click X to remove the associated row from the table.

To define join columns

Columns that are identified in the "Join Columns" table are used to connect the data being added with the appropriate subject by matching the values with those in the Master PC worksheet's column with the same header.

- 1. Click in the **Source Column** cell and select the name of the source data column that contains the subject identifier information.
- 2. If needed, click in the **Result Column** cell and edit the name that will appear in the Master PC worksheet as the column header.

Click + to confirm the addition of the row to the "Join Column" table.

Click X to remove the associated row from the table.

Add expression-based columns

	2.	^{3.}				4		
Map PC Var								
Col			_				_	_
STUDYID	Colum	Name		Ex	pres	sion		Y
USUBJID								×
PCTEST								
PCORRES		DOMAIN	T	USUBJID	T	PCSEQ	T	^
PCORRESU		PC	Ì				1	
PC Result w		PC					2	
STUDYID		PC					3	
		PC		_			4	
		PC					5	
		PC		_			6	
	<	1						>
	Load	Save E	xec	ute	ОК	Ca	ncel	
<								
Add ADS	L or DM Variab	les Data Wi	zar	d Data C	onve	erter Pr	revio	X
		1.		5.				-

- 1. Click the **Data Wizard** button at the bottom of the *PC Mapping* page.
- 2. In the dialog, click + to add a row in the top table for defining an equation.
- 3. In the **Column Name** cell, enter the header for the new column.
- 4. In the Expression cell, type an expression using column headers and operators. Formulas include: LEN(expression) ISNULL(expression, replacementvalue) IIF(expr, truepart, falsepart) TRIM(expression) SUBSTRING(expression, start, length) Wildcard Characters ("ItemName LIKE '*product*'", "ItemName LIKE '*product", "ItemName LIKE 'product*'")

```
Operators include:
<, <=, =, <>, =, IN, LIKE
+ (append)
- (subtraction)
```

* (multiplication)/ (division)% (modulus)

5. Click **Execute** to apply the expression and add the results as a new, appended column in the Master PC Worksheet.

Click X to remove the associated row from the table (the appended column is also removed from the Worksheet.

Expressions can be saved as to a file (.expr) using the **Save** button and then reused later using the **Load** button.

Data conversion

Map PC Variab	ples 2.
Colum	Source Column: PCORRES
STUDYID	Source Unit Column: PCORRESU ng/mL
USUBJID	Text Conversions
PCTEST	Source Data Convert to
PCORRES	<lloq 0<="" td=""></lloq>
PCORRESU	
PC Result wor	
STUDYID	
-	
	Unit Conversion
	Target Unit: n (nano) 🔹 g / m (milli) 🔹 L
	OK Cancel
<	
Add ADSL o	r DM Variables Data Wizard Data Converter Previou
	3. 1

1. Click the **Data Wizard** button at the bottom of the *PC Mapping* page.

Any text value detected in the data mapped to PCORRES is listed in the Data Converter tool.

- Enter the numeric value with which to replace the text in the Source Data column. In the image above, a zero ("0") will replace any instance of "<LLOQ" in the PCORRES source data column. PK Submit stores the numeric values in a PCCALCN column in the Master PC worksheet, which is then combined with PCORRES to form a PKConc analysis variable.
- 3. Use the two pull-down menus to define the target concentration unit (e.g., ng/mL). These units are stored in the PCCALCNU column. PK Submit compares the units with those in

PCORRESU and multiplies the values in PCORRES by the necessary factor to obtain the target units.

4. Click OK.

Special note about LLOQ

According to FDA recommendations, test results that fall below the LOQ need to have "BLQ" in PCSTRESC. Although PK Submit supports a number of different file type imports, the nomenclature used by scientists for reporting LLOQ values varies greatly. As a result, the process of identifying LLOQ values and inserting 'BLQ' into PCSTRESC cannot be automated. However, using the Data Wizard, it is possible for you to create expressions specific to your data that will generate the appropriate entries in the PCSTRESC.

For this example, a result that fell below the LOQ is indicated in PCORRES by "< 0.1" (where 0.1 is the LLOQ value). First, look for "<" in PCORRES and then place "BLQ" in the corresponding cell of a new column. Next, use the contents of the new column to replace the values in PCSTRESC.

- 1. Using the Data Wizard, click + and enter a name for the new column (e.g., PCSTRESCBQL).
- Enter the expression: IIF(PCORRES LIKE '%<%','BLQ',PCORRES)
- 3. Click + to add a second column and enter PCSTRESC as the name.
- 4. For the expression, enter the name used for the first new column (e.g., PCSTRESCBQL).

5. Click Execute.

For your data, replace the "<" in step 2 with the value or part of the value used in PCSTRESC to indicate LLOQ.

Sort the PC result worksheet



Sorting the columns in the results worksheet can be accomplished by simply clicking on the column header cell. Clicking the header multiple times will toggle between ascending and descending order. A sort direction indicator is shown in the header.

Alternatively:

- 1. Click in the header.
- 2. In the popup, select Sort A to Z or Sort Z to A.



- 1. In the header of the column to be filtered, click The popup lists all values found in that column.
- 2. To search for values, begin typing the text in the Search field and the list in the popup will automatically be filtered as you type.
- Use the check boxes in the list to control which rows are shown (checked boxes) or hidden (unchecked boxes) in the result worksheet. Use the (Select AII) check box to check or uncheck all items in the list at the same time.
- 4. To define a filter criteria, click Right Arrow button next to Text Filters.
- 5. Use the dropdown menus to set the operators and value to set the criteria.
- 6. To include a second criteria, select the **And** or **Or** radio button and use the second set of dropdown menus to define the second criteria.

Click Next in the PC Mapping page to move to the NCA Keys Selection page.

PK Submit checks to make sure all of the required mapping is complete. If there are any issues, the mapping table will be highlighted with a red border. You cannot proceed until all of the mapping is completed correctly.

PK Submit will also check that the USUBJID values contain the STUDYID. If not, the system will ask to concatenate the STUDYID to the USUBJID as per CDISC standards.

Identify NCA keys

Use the **Select >** and **< Remove** to identify the data columns to use as sort keys for the NCA.

Click Next in the NCA Keys Selection page to move to the Dosing page.

Add new variable

Typically, new variables are created only when needed NCA sort variables are not part of the PC domain and are not present in the source data. Using the **New Variable** button, new columns can be added and the associated data entered for each profile. The information is added to the PC Result worksheet.



- 1. Click the **New Variable** button at the bottom of the *NCA Key Selection* page.
- 2. In the dialog, enter the name of the new variable in the last column's header field.
- 3. Click + next to the field. (The icon turns to an X and can be used to remove the newly added variable.)
- 4. Add the data for the variable to the cells in the column.
- 5. Click **OK** to add the variable to the mapping page.

The variable will be added as a new row and placed alphabetically in the list. It can be set as an NCA Sort variable using the \mathbf{NCA} button. Use the X icon to remove it from the variable list.

Note: Variables added in this way are not saved to the SQLite database. They are study-specific.

Build or import dosing data

1. 2. 3.	Source Build Interna Import EX.XP USE EXDO Enter Dose Dosing Works	l Worksheet T Browse) Load SE for Dose Amou Amount Manual	From Data Folde Int ly	: r
		PCTEST Y	PCSPEC T	PCNOM ^
		Data Wizard	Previous	Next

 Select the Build Internal Worksheet radio button to populate the Dose Amount, Route, and Dose Unit columns using the data mapped into the DOSE_AMOUNT, Route, and DOSE_UNIT variables in the Master PC worksheet

Or

- Select the Import EX.XPT radio button to populate the Route, Dose Date Time, Dose Amount, and Dose Unit columns with the data from the EX.XPT file, if the data from the file match the profile in the Dosing worksheet. Use the Browse button to select the file from the file system or use the Load from Data Folder button to select it from a Phoenix project's Data Folder.
- If importing the data from EX.XPT file, select the Use EXDOSE for Dose Amount radio button to populate Dose Amount and Dose Unit columns using EX.EXDOSE and EX.EXDOSEU data in the file.

Or

Use the **Enter Dose Amount Manually** radio button to populate the Dose Amount and Dose Unit columns using data mapped into the DOSE_AMOUNT and DOSE_UNIT variables in the Master PC worksheet.

A popup will display the number of Dose records imported.

4. When applicable, enter the Dose Date Time, Infusion Duration, and TAU values manually into the Dosing worksheet.

Click the **Data Wizard** button at the bottom of the *Dosing* page to add expression-based columns of data to the Dosing Worksheet. See "Add expression-based columns" for more information.

Click Next to move to the Data Exclusion and Comments page.

A popup will warn if the PCRFTDTC column is not populated. If **all** Dose_Date_Time (PCRFTDTC) are not populated, the popup will display the number of Dose_Date_Time rows not populated/populated.

Exclude data

Manually select data Use criteria to select data

Manually select data



- 1. To exclude a data record(s), select the corresponding row(s) in the first table on the page.
- 2. Right-click a selected row and select **Exclude from Statistic**, **Exclude from NCA**, or **Exclude from PC.XPT** from the menu.
- 3. In the popup dialog, enter the reason for exclusion and click **OK**.

For **Exclude from Statistic** or **Exclude from NCA**, when SEND is the standard, use the **Include Flag in PC.XPT** checkbox to indicate if a column for an exclusion flag should be included in the PC domain file.

For **Exclude from PC.XPT**, if there are any comments in the CO domain for the selected records, they will need to be removed before the exclusion can be performed.

Note: Use the filter icons beside each column name to aid in the selection of records for manual exclusion.

Use criteria to select data

Filter criteria can also be used to identify the records to exclude.

Concent	ati	on Exclusion			Ex	clusio	n type				- 1
PCNOMDY	T		PCTPT	11		✓ Incl	ude Flag	in	PC.XPT		
	5.00	Day 5	12h		•	Excl	lude from	n St	atistic -		-2
	5.00	Day 5	24h		Exclude from NCA						
1	0.00	Day 10	0h			Excl	lude from	n Po	C.XPT		
1	0.00	Day 10	0.5h								3
1	0.00	Day 10	1h		Se	lect a	Variable				
1	0.00	Day 10	2h		1	PCNO	MDY			\odot	
1	0.00	Day 10	4h				Operati	on			
1	0.00	Day 10	8h				operation	1 -			- 4
1	0.00	Day 10	12h				v) — >			
1	0.00	Day 10	24h] <			
	1.00	Day 11	0.5h		_						5
	1.00	Day 11	1h		En	iter va	lue				-
	1.00	Day 11	2h			5					
	1.00	Day 11	4h		- En	iter Re	ason				. 6
	1.00	Day 11	8h	\sim		No ch	ange obs	en	/ed after 5	5.	
	' I		РСТР1								-7
5.0	0 D	ay 5	12h			_			\sim		
5.0	0 D	ay 5	24h			Ex	clude	X	Save Crit	teria	
10.0	0 D	ay 10	0h		ſ	Clear	criteria	١٢	Load Crit	teria	
10.0	0 D	ay 10	0.5h			-		1			
10.0	0 D	ay 10	1h			Cor	nment				
<				>		U	Indo				
Tin	ne D	eviation Rules	Visualiz	zati	on	P	revious		Next		

1. When SEND is the standard, use the **Include Flag in PC.XPT** checkbox to indicate if a column for an exclusion flag should be included in the PC domain file.

For SDTM, concentrations are recorded in the SUPPPC output domain.

- 2. Select where the exclusions are to be applied: Exclude from Statistic, Exclude from NCA, or Exclude from PC.XPT.
- 3. Select the variable on which to base the exclusions.
- 4. Check the box(es) for the operator(s) to use in the criteria. Use combinations of two operators, if needed (e.g., check < and = to indicate the value is "less than or equal to").
- 5. Type the value in the **Enter Value** field.

- **Note:** Only a single value is supported for the **Enter Value** field. If multiple values are entered (e.g., a comma-separated list), no exclusions will be applied.
 - 6. Enter a reason for the exclusion.
 - 7. Click Exclude.

The rows that match the criteria will be shaded pink. For **Exclude from PC.XPT**, if there are any comments in the CO domain for the selected records, they will need to be removed before the exclusion can be performed.

To remove the previously applied exclusion, click the **Undo** button.

To remove the exclusion of a specific row, right-click the row and select Undo.

Click **Clear Criteria** to clear the fields and settings made on the page (any rows marked for exclusion will remain shaded).

Use the Save Criteria and Load Criteria buttons to re-use exclusion criteria with a different data set.

For SEND 3.x, the reason is stored in the Master PC worksheet column PCREASEX, and PCEX-CLFL="Y" when the record is excluded from NCA or ExcludeFromPCDomain="Y" when excluding from PC.XPT. In addition, EXCLCRIT="Exclusion criteria" when filter criteria are used.

For SDTM 3.2, in the Master PC worksheet, ExcludeFromNCA="Y" when the record is excluded from NCA or ExcludeFromPCDomain="Y" when excluding from PC.XPT. In addition, EXCLCRIT="Exclusion criteria" when filter criteria are used. The reason is not recorded. However, a record is created in the CO domain for NCA exclusions.

When **Exclude from NCA** is specified, the data records (where the column PCEXCLFL is set to "Y") will be excluded from NCA_PLASMA_Worksheet or NCA_URINE_Worksheet; but will still be presented in the PC.XPT.

When **Exclude from PC.XPT** is specified, the data records that are marked as excluded from PC.XPT will be removed when the file PC.XPT is created. The records that are excluded from the PC domain will be included in the NCA_PLASMA_Worksheet and NCA_URINE_Worksheet

Add comments

Manually select data Use criteria to select data

·····, · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Concentration	n Exclu	usion
1.	STUDYID	T	DOMAIN PC
2. 3.	Exclude fro Exclude fro Exclude fro Comment Undo	om Statis om NCA om PC.XP	tic
Enter C	Comment:	ОК	Cancel

- 1. To add a comment to a data record(s), select the corresponding row(s) in the first table on the page.
- 2. Right-click a selected row and select **Add Comment** from the menu.
- 3. In the popup dialog, enter the comment and click **OK**.

The column COVAL in the CO domain stores the comment. If the comment is more than 200 characters, additional COVAL columns will be added and sequentially numbered (e.g., COVAL1, COVAL2).

Use criteria to select data

Filter criteria can also be used to identify the records on which to comment.

Concentratio	on Exclusion		Exclusion type	1		
PCNOMDY T		PCTPT	✓ Include Flag in PC.XPT			
5.00	Day 5	12h	✓ Exclude from Statistic	-2		
5.00	Day 5	24h	Exclude from NCA			
10.00	Day 10	0h	Exclude from PC.XPT			
10.00	Day 10	0.5h	L	3		
10.00	Day 10	1h	Select a Variable	1		
10.00	Day 10	2h	PCNOMDY 💽			
10.00	Day 10	4h	Operation			
10.00	Day 10	8h		4		
10.00	Day 10	12h				
10.00	Day 10	24h				
11.00	Day 11	0.5h				
11.00	Day 11	1h	Enter Value	15		
11.00	Day 11	2h	5			
11.00	Day 11	4h	Enter Reason	6		
11.00	Day 11	8h ~		ľ		
<		>	=			
STUDYID	T D	OMAIN		1		
			Exclude Save Criteria			
			Clear criteria Load Criteria			
			Comment			
<		>	Undo			
Time D	eviation Rules	Visualizati	ion Previous Next			

- 1. Use the checkbox to indicate if a column for an exclusion flag should be included in the PC.XPT file.
- 2. Select where the exclusions are to be applied: Exclude from Statistic, Exclude from NCA, or Exclude from PC.XPT.
- 3. Select the variable on which to base the criteria.
- 4. Check the box(es) for the operator(s) to use in the criteria. Use combinations of two operators, if needed (e.g., check < and = to indicate the value is "less than or equal to."
- 5. Type the value in the **Enter Value** field.

Note: Only a single value is supported for the **Enter Value** field. If multiple values are entered (e.g., a comma-separated list), no comments will be applied.

- 6. In the Enter Reason or Comment field, type the comment.
- 7. Click Comment.

The column COVAL in the CO domain stores the comment.

To remove all the applied comments, click the **Undo** button.

To remove a specific comment, right-click the row and select **Undo**.

Click Clear Criteria to clear the fields and settings made on the page.

Click **Next** to move to the NCA Configuration page.

Time deviation rules

By defining a time deviation rule, the user can identify sample data where the collection time deviated more than a specified tolerance of time. That tolerance can be set as a length of time or a percentage of time deviation. For example, in the following image, the default rule will flag any samples with a time deviation greater than or equal to 30 minutes or a percent time deviation greater than or equal to 10%. When a rule is broken, a flag is set in the DeviationRuleApplied column.



- 1. From the *Data Exclusions and Comments* page, click **Time Deviation Rules** at the bottom of the page.
- 2. Select the columns that contain the **Sample Collection Date Time**, **Dosing Date Time**, and **Nominal Time** data from the menus.
- 3. If needed, click the right arrow circle button and type the format of the data in the **Enter Date Time Format** field (e.g., MM/DD/YY HH:MM:SS).
- 4. For each deviation (row), specify the following:
 Name: Enter a name for referring to the deviation rule.
 Lower: Check the Is Specified box to display tools for setting a lower nominal time limit.
 Upper: Check the Is Specified box to display tools for setting a upper nominal time limit.

Rules: Enter an amount of time in the **Deviation** field and/or a percentage in the **Percentage** field with which to compare the sample time data.

5. Use the Add Rule button at the bottom to add another row to the table.

Time deviation is computed as:

- For amount of time deviation (reported in the Deviation PK column): Sample_Collection_DateTime – (Dosing_DateTime + Nominal_Time)
- For percentage of time deviation (reported in the Percent Deviation column): [(Amount_of_Time_Deviation)/Nominal_Time] * 100

Visualization

PK Submit allows users to take a quick look at the time vs concentration graphs of the data through a visualization tool. (Note that these graphs are provided for a visual overview of the data and cannot be saved.)

- 1. From the Data Exclusions and Comments page, click Visualization at the bottom of the page.
- 2. Use the **Time** and **Conc Column** menus to select a different column.

			2
Time Column	PCTPTNUM	*	1
Conc Column	PCSTRESN	*	3
Visualization Type:	Linear	•	4
Select Group Variab	oles	_	
STUDYID		^	
DOMAIN			
USUBJID			
POOLID			5
Select Page Variable	es	~	
STUDYID		^	
DOMAIN			
USUBJID			
	Cance	4	

- 3. Switch between Linear and Logarithmic graphing scales using the Visualization Type menu.
- 4. Adjust how the data is grouped on the graphs by clicking different variable buttons in the **Select Group Variables** list.
- 5. Adjust how the graphs are grouped on a page by clicking different variable buttons in the **Select Page Variables** list.

Configure settings for NCA

		1	1.				2.		
Specify Dose T	уре		Spe	cify Model Ty	pe			NCA Keys S	election
PCTEST	EXROUTE	DoseType		PCSPEC	r I N	lodelType	T	USUBJID	
	ORAL GAVAGE	Extravascular *	P	LASMA	PI	LASMA (200 - 2	02)	PCTEST	
								PCSPEC	
								VISITNUM	
Specify Analys	is Variables								
Specify /	Analysis Va	ariables							
Time colun	nn:	PCTPTNUM		h					
Concentrat	ion column:	PCSTRESN		•					
Compute Concentrations at Times:									
	T	erminology Map	ping	Partial Ar	rea	Ratios	Pr	evious	Submit
3.								4.	

- 1. Click in the **DoseType** cell and select one of the dose type from the menu (**Extravascular**, **IV Bolus**, **IV Infusion**) for each unique combination of analyte and route
- 2. Click in the **Model Type** cell and select the type from the menu (**PLASMA (200-202)** or **URINE** (210-212)) for each biological matrix.
- 3. From the Time column and Concentration column menus, select the variable to use.
- 4. For the SEND standard, check the **Sparse NCA** box to indicate that this is a sparse study when appropriate.

Note that the **Sparse NCA** box appears only if the SEND standard is selected.

- 5. In the **Compute Concentrations at Times** field, enter a comma-separated list of times at which the corresponding concentration is to be calculated.
- 6. For the SEND standard, check the **Sparse NCA** box to indicate that this is a sparse study when appropriate.

Note that the Sparse NCA box appears only if the SEND standard is selected.

The **Terminology Mapping** button can be used to set the mapping of the matrix to the CDISC code list. (See "Terminology mapping" for more details.)

The **Partial Area** button can be used to set up partial areas. (See "Define partial areas" for more details.)

The **Ratios** button can be used to "Set up accumulation ratio calculations" and "Set up metabolite to parent ratio calculations".

7. When finished with the domain specifications, click the **Submit** button.

Define partial areas

1. Click the **Partial Area** button at the bottom of the NCA Configuration page.

			2.		3		
Specify Dose Type		Specify Model Type			NCA Keys Selection		
PCTEST No. of Partial		al Areas:	Areas: 1				
~	PCTEST T	PCSPEC T	PCNOMDY T	Area No. 🝸	Start Time 🍸	End Time 🍸	
	ABC-111	PLASMA	1	1			
	ABC-111	PLASMA	2	1			
	ABC-111	PLASMA	3	1			
	ABC-111	PLASMA	37	1			
Specify Analysis V	ABC-111	PLASMA	38	1			
Specify Ar	ABC-111	PLASMA	4	1			
Time column	ABC-111	PLASMA	5	1			
Time column	ABC-111	PLASMA	6	1			
Concentratio							
Compute Cor				Add Clr Area	ок	Cancel	
_							
	Termin	ology Mapping	Partial Area	Ratios	Previous	Submit	
		1		4.		۱ _{5.}	

- 2. In the dialog, enter how many partial areas to use in the No. of Partial Areas field.
- 3. Enter the **Start Time** and **End Time** for each partial area (row) in the table.
- 4. Click **Add Clr Areas** to have the application find and fill in the **Start Time** of the first urine interval and the **End Time** of the last urine interval for each urine collection occasion.

The Clr (renal clearance) parameter is then automatically calculated during the Finalize PD Data step of creating the PP domain and merged with the other NCA parameters for reporting.

5. Click OK.

Set up accumulation ratio calculations

- 1. Click the **Ratios** button at the bottom of the *NCA Configuration* page.
- In the Accumulation Ratios tab of the dialog, select the PK parameters for the calculations by clicking one or more buttons on the left.

2.		3. 4.		5.						
Specify D	Accumulati	ion Ratics	Metabol	ite to Parent	Ratios					
РСТЕ	Select Parameter	Reference	e Variable:	VISITNUM -	Refere	nce Occasion	Test	Occasion	Paramete	ers
	AUCINE obs	Reference	e occasion:		1		5		AUCall	×
	AUC partial are	Test occas	ion(s)							
	AUClast									
Specify A	AUCtau	Select Sort	t Keys	TEST						
Speci	Cmax	PCSPEC	VIS	SITNUM						
Time o		s	ave							
Concer							_		10	
Compu		/						OK	Ca	ncel
		Terminology 1	Mapping	Partial Area	Ratio	s Previ	ous	Sub	mit	
	6.			 1. *						

- 3. Select the variable to serve as the reference from the **Reference Variable** menu.
- 4. Select the occasion to serve as the reference from the **Reference occasion** menu.
- 5. Select the **Test occasion(s)** to use in the ratio calculation by clicking one or more of the occasion buttons (there is only one shown in the image above).
- 6. Under **Select Sort Keys**, toggle the sort keys being used by clicking the buttons multiple times. The Master PC Worksheet will update as you change these keys, so you can immediately see the effects of switching sort keys. Changing the sort keys here does not affect the NCA sort keys.

Use the Save button to add the selections to the table on the right.

Accumulation ratios are reported as RAUCall, RAUCINF, RAUC(Start-End times), RAUClast, RAUCtau, RCmax columns of data in the NCA Final PK Parameters worksheet.

Set up metabolite to parent ratio calculations

- 1. Click the **Ratios** button at the bottom of the NCA Configuration page.
- 2. Select the Metabolite to Parent Ratios tab.

	3.	4.	2,	5.					
Specify Dos	Accumulat	ion Ratios	Metabolit	e to Parent	Ratios				
PCTES	Select Parameter	Reference	Analyte:	nalvte 👻	Reference A	nalyte	Test Analyte	Parameters	
	AUCtau	Test occasio	n(s)	,	Analyte			Cmax	×
	Partial Areas								
	AUCinf								
	AUClast	ī							
Specify Anal	Cmax	Select Sort	Keys						
Specify	Chan	USUBJID	PCTES	ST					
Speeny	Ctau	PCSPEC	VISITI	NUM					
Time coli		Si	ave						
Concentr								1	
Compute							ОК	Cano	el
L									
	Те	rminology Ma	pping Par	rtial Area	Ratios	Previous	s Subm	it	
	6.			1.					

- 3. Choose the PK parameters for the calculations by clicking one or more buttons on the left.
- 4. Select the analyte to serve as the reference from the Reference Analyte menu.
- 5. Select the **Test occasion(s)** to use in the ratio calculation by clicking one or more of the occasion buttons (there are none shown in the image above).
- 6. Under **Select Sort Keys**, toggle the sort keys being used by clicking the buttons multiple times. The Master PC Worksheet will update as you change these keys, so you can immediately see the effects of switching sort keys. Changing the sort keys here does not affect the NCA sort keys.

Use the Save button to save the selections to the table on the right.

Accumulation ratios are reported as MPAUCall, MPAUCINF, MPAUC(Start-End times), MPAUClast, MPAUCtau, MPCmax columns of data in the NCA Final PK Parameters worksheet.

Validation of PC domain creation

Once Submit is clicked in the wizard, PK Submit performs numerous checks, including the following:

- STUDYID is unique for the PC domain.
- The following variables are "Y" or "null": PCFAST, PCSPCUFL, PCBLFL, and PCEXCLFL.
- PCTEST is less than 40 characters.
- The combinations of PCTEST and PCTESTCD are unique. Every PCTEST value should only have one PCTESTCD.
- The contents of PCORRESU and PCSTRESU are defined in the PKUNIT code list.
- When PCBLFL=Y, PCSTRESC and PCSTRESU are populated.
- PCTPTNUM and PCTPT are the same.
- PCTPTNUM and PCELTM are the same.
- PCRFTDTC, PCDTC and PCENDTC are in a valid format.
- When PCENDTC is populated, PCENDY is populated as well.
- When PCRFTDTC is populated, PCTPTREF is populated as well.

- Proper order of columns and the type for each variable.
- The following variables are populated: STUDYID, DOMAIN, USUBJID, PCSEQ, PCTESTCD, PCTEST, PCORRES, PCORRESU, PCSTRESC, PCSTRESN, PCSTRESU, PCNAM (SDTM only), PCSPEC, PCBLFL (SEND only), PCLLOQ, VISITNUM (SDTM only), PCDTC, PCNOMDY (SEND only), PCRFTDTC (SEND only).
- · Variables conform with their controlled terms in the code list.

A failure results in a displayed warning message and/or a message written to the Validation Report in the created Phoenix project Documents folder.

Output

When the PC domain is created, the wizard adds the Master PC Worksheet to the Data folder of the Phoenix project. A CDISC folder is also added to the Data folder that contains

- PC (PC domain)
- CO (CO domain)

SUPPPC (supplemental PC domain)

ADPC (validation report, SDTM standard only with ADaM data imported)

ADSL (ADSL domain, SDTM standard only with ADaM ADSL data imported)

DM (DM domain, SDTM standard only with ADaM DM data imported)

The following NCA worksheets are also added to the Data folder.

NCA_PLASMA_Worksheet: Excludes all samples when the PCEXCLFL="Y" and all records where the matrix (PCSPEC) belongs to the model type: URINE (210 –212).

NCA_URINE_Worksheet: Excludes all samples when the PCEXCLFL="Y" and all records where the matrix (PCSPEC) belongs to the model type: PLASMA (200 –202). The StartTime column is added and populated using the formula: StartTime = PCTPT – PCEVLINT.

NCA_DOSING_Worksheet

NCA_SORT_KEYS (list of sorting columns in the PC domain and corresponding column names in the dosing data)

The following are added to the Documents folder:

Study Configuration (list of all setting values for the study)

Validation Report (list of any issues identified during the domain creation process.

An NCA object for plasma and/or for urine are added to the workflow.

Add Exclusion and Comment

The **PK Submit > Exclusion and Comment** menu item opens the PC creation wizard to the Data Exclusion and Comments page where you can re-visit the study previously imported, specify data to exclude, add comments, and modify NCA parameter settings (refer to "Exclude data" and the sections that follow it). The PC domain is updated with the modified information when the **Submit** button is clicked.

Create PP Domain

This wizard allows you to select the final PK parameters to exclude, add comments, and generate the PP domain.

Select **PK Submit > Create PP Domain** from the main menu.

The required parameters worksheet will typically come directly from an NCA object, but may also be created through the Data Wizard or some other process in Phoenix.

If an NCA Final Parameter(s) worksheet is already part of the project, it will automatically be selected as the Parameter Worksheet.

Use the **Browse** button to select a different worksheet that contains the parameters in a stacked format using the *Select Object* dialog.

Click OK.

Note: If the final parameters worksheet is user-created, it is important that it includes all data contained in the NCA Final Parameters worksheet(s). New parameters merged with the NCA parameters must be stored in the "Parameter" column, and their corresponding values stored in the "Estimate" column. All other variables should also be populated to match the NCA results.

Creating the PP Domain using the wizard involves the following tasks:

Select PK parameters Exclude parameters Add comments Validation of PP domain creation Output

Select PK parameters

Select parameters from one list and use the **Select >** and **< Remove** buttons to move them between the two lists. Parameters in the list on the right will be included in the PP domain report.

PK Parameters		Selected PK Parameters 🔺
Amount		AUClast
AUC_%Extrap_obs		Cmax
AUC_%Extrap_pred		Tmax
AUCall		
AUCINF_D_obs	Select >	
AUCINF_D_pred		
AUCINF_obs	< Remove	
AUCINF_pred		
AUClast_D		
AUMC_%Extrap_obs		
AUMC_%Extrap_pred		
< >		
	Additional F	K Parameters Next

To include other parameters:

1. Click Additional PK Parameters at the bottom of the page.

		3.	4.						
2.	PK Parameters	<u>^</u>	Selected	PK Parameters \land					
Select	Parameter Name	Calculate For Profiles	Criteria	Description					
1	CTrough	PCNOMDY = 1 *	PCTPTNUM = 0	CTrough at specified days					
7	CTroughD			CTrough/Dose					
•	Clr	PCNOMDY = 1 *		Renal clearance for specified days					
				ОК					
	AUMC_%Extrap_pre	d		5.					
	Additional PK Parameters Next								
		1.	r						

2. Check the **Select** checkbox(es) to include CTrough, CTroughD, and/or Clr parameter calculations in the PP domain report.
- 3. For **CTrough** and **CIr**, specify the occasion when the observed value is to be designated as the parameter by selecting from the list in the **Calculate For Profiles** column.
- 4. For CTrough, use the Criteria column to identify a particular time point.
- 5. Click **OK** to add the checked parameters to the list of selected parameters.

Exclude parameters

Manually select data

This process is the same as described in "Manually select data" in the PC creation section.

Use criteria to select parameter



Filter criteria can also be used to identify the parameters to exclude.

- 1. Under Parameter Selection, click the button for the parameter to exclude.
- 2. Select the variable on which to base the criteria.
- Check the box(es) for the operator(s) to use in the criteria. Use combinations of two operators, if needed (e.g., check < and = to indicate the value is "less than or equal to."

- 4. Type the value in the Enter Value field.
- 5. Enter a reason for the exclusion in the **Enter Comment** field.
- 6. Click Exclude.

If any of the selected parameters have comments in the CO domain, they need to be removed before the exclusion can be performed.

Note: Selecting **Parameter** in the **Select the column for criteria** pull-down list will result in the appearance of a second pull-down list labeled **Select parameter for criteria**, from which the parameter to use in the exclusion criteria is selected.

Select parameter (no criteria)

Selecting a parameter without specifying criteria will exclude all data points for that parameter.

- 1. Under **Parameter Selection**, click the button for the parameter to exclude.
- 2. Click **Exclude**.

If any of the selected parameters have comments in the CO domain, they need to be removed before the exclusion can be performed.

To remove all the applied exclusions, click the **Undo** button.

To remove a specific exclusion, right-click the row and select **Undo**.

Click Clear Criteria to clear the fields and settings made on the page.

Add comments

Manually select data

This process is the same as described in "Manually select data" in the PC creation section.

Use criteria to select parameter

This process is the same as described in "Use criteria to select parameter" to exclude parameters, except click the **Comment** instead of **Exclude** button.

Select parameter (no criteria)

Selecting a parameter without specifying criteria will add the comment to all data points for that parameter.

- 1. Under Parameter Selection, click the button for the parameter.
- 2. Type the comment in the Enter Comment field.
- 3. Click Comment.
- 4. When finished with the domain specifications, click **OK**.

The **Terminology Mapping** button can be used to set the mapping of the matrix to the CDISC code list. (See "Terminology mapping" for more details.)

Validation of PP domain creation

Once Submit is clicked in the wizard, PK Submit performs numerous checks, including the following:

POOLID values match entries in the Pool Definition dataset (POOLDEF).

PPTESTCD is no longer than 8 characters and does not start with a number.

PPTEST is no longer than 40 characters.

The combination of PPTESTCD and PPTEST for each unique parameter name is unique.

PPORRESU and PPSTRESCU are defined in the PKUNIT code list.

When PPORRES is blank, PPSTAT is set to "NOT DONE".

When PPSTAT=NOT DONE, PPREASND is populated.

When PCSTAT=NOT DONE, the following variables are null: PPORRES, PPSTRESC, PPOR-RESU, PPSTRESCU, PPSTRESN.

PPRFTDTC is in a valid format.

PPSPEC contains a value in the controlled terminology code list "Specimen Type".

PPSTINT and PPENINT are in ISO format.

The SEND/SDTM and dataset variable type match.

The following variables are populated: SEND: STUDYID, DOMAIN, USUBJID, PPSEQ, PPT-ESTCD, PPTEST, PPCAT, PPORRES, PPORRESU, PPSTRESC, PPSTRESN, PPSTRESU, PPSPEC, PPNOMDY (SEND only), PPRFTDTC.

Variables conform with their controlled terms in the code list for SEND or SDTM.

A failure results in a displayed warning message and/or a message written to the Validation Report in the Documents folder.

Output

When the PP domain is created, the following worksheets are added to the Data folder.

PP (actual PP domain)

SUPPPP (supplemental PP domain, SDTM standard only)

ADPP (validation report, SDTM standard only with ADaM data imported)

PK Submit <i>User's Guide</i>

Terminology mapping

If a variable is manually mapped, the database installed with PK Submit will remember the mapping and automatically map that variable the next time it is encountered. To see the complete terminology list and make changes to the automatic mapping, use the **Terminology Mapping** button, available when creating a PC or PP domain.

If there is an existing mapping, the CDISC code list will be pre-populated, otherwise, it will be empty/ blank.

For PC domain creation



- 1. In the *Controlled Terminology Mapping* dialog, set the mapping of the matrix (PCSPEC) to the CDISC code list by clicking the **Code List** cell and selecting the appropriate code from the menu.
- 2. Set the mapping of the unit (PCORRESU/PCSTRESU) to the CDISC code list by clicking the **Code List** cell and selecting the appropriate code from the menu.
- 3. Click **OK** to close the dialog and save the mapping information to the SQLite database.

For PP domain creation

	1.		2.				
Parameter Mapping			Unit Mapping				
Parameter	Code List	^	Unit	Code List			
AUC_%Extrap_obs	AUCPEO-AUC %Extrapolation Obs						
AUC_%Extrap_pred	AUCPEP-AUC %Extrapolation Pred		%	%			
AUCall	AUCALL-AUC AII		1/h				
AUCINF_D_obs	AUCIFOD-AUC Infinity Obs Norm by		h	h			
AUCINF_D_pred	AUCIFPD-AUC Infinity Pred Norm by		h*h*ng/mL	h2*ng/mL			
AUCINF_obs	AUCIFO-AUC Infinity Obs		h*ng/mL	h*ng/mL			
AUCINF_pred	AUCIFP-AUC Infinity Pred		h*ng/mL/mg	h*ng/mL/mg			
AUClast	AUCLST-AUC to Last Nonzero Conc		mg	mg			
<	>		mL	mL v			
			Ok	Cancel			

1. In the *Controlled Terminology Mapping* dialog, set the mapping of the parameter to the CDISC code list by clicking the **Code List** cell and selecting the appropriate code from the menu.

- 2. Set the mapping of the unit to the CDISC code list by clicking the **Code List** cell and selecting the appropriate code from the menu.
- 3. Click **OK** to close the dialog and save the mapping information to the SQLite database.

Create RELREC and POOLDEF Domains

When the **PK Submit > Create RELREC and POOLDEF Domains** menu item is selected, the REL-REC and POOLDEF (Sparse analysis only) domains are immediately created and added to the Data folder.

POOLDEF is used to link multiple subjects to a single POOLID. The POOLID itself is created by concatenating the unique combination of all NCA sort variables (excluding the subject).

PK SUBMIT will create the RELREC domain using the many-to-many mapping method. This method links the PC.PCGRPID numbers with the PP.PPGRPID numbers by the RELID value. In the following image, the RELID=1 is used to link ALL records in the PC domain where PCGRPID= "Test Study1-1001A-ABC-111-1" to ALL records in the PP domain where PPGRPID="Test Study1-1001A-ABC-111-1".



Note: PK Submit will split all .xpt domains greater than 5 gigabytes (GB) in size into smaller datasets no larger than 5 GB.

Validation of POOLDEF domain creation

Once **PK Submit > Create RELREC and POOLDEF Domains** is selected from the main menu, PK Submit will perform the following checks:

Check that the POOLID values match between Pool Definition dataset (POOLDEF) and PP domain.

Check that the SEND and dataset variable type match.

Check that the following variables are populated: STUDYID, POOLID, USUBJID.

A failure results in a displayed warning message and/or a message written to the Validation Report in the Documents folder.

Validation of RELREC domain creation

Once **PK Submit > Create RELREC and POOLDEF Domains** is selected from the main menu, PK Submit will perform the following checks:

Check that the SEND/SDTM and dataset variable type match

Check that the following variables are populated: STUDYID, RDOMAIN, USUBJID, IDVAR, IDVARVAL, RELID, RELTYPE (SDTM only).

A failure results in a displayed warning message and/or a message written to the Validation Report in the Documents folder.

Create Submission Files

Select PK Submit > Create Submission Files.

In the dialog, optionally enter a study name, a description of the study and a protocol name to use in the files.

Click OK.

The following files for submission are generated, with all of the required fields populated, and stored in the Documents folder of the Phoenix project in subfolders, depending on their extension:

Define.xml file

Define.xslx file

Data Reviewer's Guide

Domain files in xpt format.

The Data Reviewer's Guide is a Word document that is based on the template available on the PhUSE website. It will vary depending on the standard selected. For SEND, the *Non-Clinical Study Data Reviewer's Guide* (nsdrg) is generated. For SDTM, the *Study Data Reviewer's Guide* (sdrg) is generated.

When STDM is the standard and AdaM data is imported, the output will also include a Define Adam.xlsx, Define ADaM.xml, and *Analysis Data Study Guide* (adrg) file

Export Submission Files

Select PK Submit > Export Submission Files menu item.

Use the Browse for Folder dialog to specify the location for the new files.

Click OK.

SAS xpt files are generated for all of the domains. In addition, copies of the Define.xml and *Data Reviewer's Guide* files will be included in the output folder, if they are present in the Phoenix project.

PK Submit <i>User's Guide</i>

Preferences

PK Submit preferences, available to the user via the *Preferences* dialog (**Edit > Preferences**), consist of a General Configuration screen to allow the uploading of CDISC SEND- and SDTM-controlled terminology.

Preferences	
	General configuration
⊖- PK Submit General configuration	Terminology Import SEND Terminology Import SDTM Terminology

In the *Preferences* dialog, select **PK Submit > General Configuration**.

Choose the Import SEND Terminology or Import SDTM Terminology button.

In the file browser, navigate to and select the file containing the terminology settings. The file must be in Excel XLS format (*.xls).

The PK Submit SQLite database distributed with Phoenix is preloaded with SEND and SDTM Controlled Terminology code lists. If a different terminology set is imported, it will be stored in the SQLite database.

The SEND/Codelist code and Codelist name are listed below (the CDISC Submission Value is in parentheses):

C77529 Specimen (SPEC) C85839 PK Parameters Code (PKPARMCD) C85494 PK Units of Measure (PKUNIT) C66789 Not Done (ND) C66742 No Yes Response (NY) C78737 Relationship Type (RELTYPE)

The SDTM/Codelist code and Codelist name are listed below (the CDISC Submission Value is in parentheses):

C78734 Specimen Type (SPECTYPE) C85839 PK Parameters Code (PKPARMCD) C85494 PK Units of Measure (PKUNIT) C66789 Not Done (ND) C66742 No Yes Response (NY) C78733 Specimen Condition (SPECCOND) C85492 Method (METHOD) C78737 Relationship Type (RELTYPE)

CDISC time formats

Below are some important notes regarding the time formats used in CDISC.

- All the date, time, and collection time fields are in ISO 8601 format as defined by the CDISC standards.
- The format of CDISC data after import may differ depending upon the default local/regional ISO format for the environment in which Phoenix is running. The mm/dd/yyyy ISO date format may not be the default and may not even be an option in some regions.

Constructed variables

SEND 3.0

--SEQ: Sequential number identifying records within a dataset.

--STRESC: Copy of --ORRES.

--STRESN: Reports the numeric equivalent when --STREC contains a numeric result.

--STRESU: When --STRESC contains a numeric result, --ORRESU is reported in --STRESU.

--SPEC: Derived from the specimen name used during sample collection.

USUBJID: Concatenation of STUDYID-SUBJID.

PCTESTCD: "ANALYTE" + sequence number (0-9)

PCTPT: PCTPTNUM + Time Unit

DOTOTALINA	Required
PCTPTNUM	h 💌

PCTPTREF: "Time unit" + VISITDY + "Dose"

	NCA Required	
VISITDY	Day	*

POOLID: A concatenation of all NCA sort key, separate each key with a dash "-". --GRPID: A concatenation of all NCA sort key, separate each key with a dash "-". **PPCAT**: Copy of PCTEST.

PPSCAT: "NON-COMPARTMENTAL" hardcode.

PPSTINT: Start time found in the partial area in the ISO format. **PPENINT**: End time found in the partial area in the ISO format. **PPTPTREF**: Copy of PCTPTREF.

SEND 3.1

--SEQ: Sequential number identifying records within a dataset.

--STRESC: Copy of --ORRES.

--STRESN: Reports the numeric equivalent when --STREC contains a numeric result.

--STRESU: When --STRESC contains a numeric result, --ORRESU is reported in --STRESU.

--SPEC: Derived from the specimen name used during sample collection.

USUBJID: Concatenation of STUDYID-SUBJID.

PCTESTCD: "ANALYTE" + sequence number (0-9)

PCTPT: PCTPTNUM + Time Unit

	Required	
PCTPTNUM	h	•

PCNOMLBL: "Time unit" + PCNOMDY



PCTPTREF: PCNOMLBL + "Dose".

POOLID: A concatenation of all NCA sort key, separate each key with a dash "-". --GRPID: A concatenation of all NCA sort key, separate each key with a dash "-". **PPCAT**: Copy of PCTEST.

PPSCAT: "NON-COMPARTMENTAL" hardcode.

PPSTINT: Start time found in the partial area in the ISO format.

PPENINT: End time found in the partial area in the ISO format.

PPTPTREF: Copy of PCTPTREF.

PPNOMDY: Copy of PCNOMDY.

PPNOMLBL: Copy of PCNOMLBL.

SDTM

--SEQ: Sequential number identifying records within a dataset.

--STRESC: Copy of --ORRES.

--STRESN: Reports the numeric equivalent when --STREC contains a numeric result.

--STRESU: When --STRESC contains a numeric result, --ORRESU is reported in --STRESU.

--SPEC: Derived from the specimen name used during sample collection.

USUBJID: Concatenation of STUDYID-SUBJID.

PCTESTCD: "ANALYTE" + sequence number (0-9)

PCTPT: PCTPTNUM + Time Unit



VISIT: "Time unit" + VISITDY

VISITDY NCA Required Day -

PCTPTREF: VISIT + "Dose".

--GRPID: A concatenation of all NCA sort key, separate each key with a dash "-". **PPCAT**: Copy of PCTEST.

PPSCAT: "NON-COMPARTMENTAL" hardcode.

PPSTINT: Start time found in the partial area in the ISO format. **PPENINT**: End time found in the partial area in the ISO format.

PK Submit			
User's Guide			

PK Submit Examples

PK Submit supports the automatic generation of a complete electronic PK regulatory submission package, including all necessary CDISC domains, during the normal process of setting up and executing an NCA.

The example below shows the basic steps to generating SEND 3.1 formatted submission-ready files.

See "SDTM example" for generating SDTM 3.2 formatted submission-ready files.

SEND example

This example uses the input of a PC.xpt and an EX.xpt file. Using PK Submit, a full set of CDISC domains in SEND 3.1 format will be generated and an NCA project will be created and set up to use the domains. At the end of the example, you will have a complete set of files for the study that are ready for electronic submission.

The major steps in this example include:

- Create the PC domain
- Create the PP domain
- Create RELREC domain
- Create files required for submission
- Export submission files

Create the PC domain

Specify the dataset for the PC domain

1. Select **PK Submit > PC > Create PC Domain** from the Phoenix menu.

	1.
PK Submit Validation Window Help	
PC +	Create PC Domain
Create PP Domain	Exclusion and Comment
4. Create RELREC and POOLDEF Domains	
Create Submission Files	
Standard: SEND - Version: 3.1 - Control Terr	ninology: SEND Tei -
FileType: Concentration file(s)	
PC.xpt	
Import: Browse	
Source Path	Source Name
Source Path Source Path C:\Program Files (x86)\Certara\Phoenix\application\Examples\PK Submi PC	source Name
Source Path Source Path C:\Program Files (x86)\Certara\Phoenix\application\Examples\PK Submi PC	xpt
Source Path Source Path C:\Program Files (x86)\Certara\Phoenix\application\Examples\PK Submi PC	xpt
Source Path Source Path C:\Program Files (x86)\Certara\Phoenix\application\Examples\PK Submi PC	xpt
Source Path Source Path Submi PC.	source Name
Source Path Submi PC: C:\Program Files (x86)\Certara\Phoenix\application\Examples\PK Submi PC:	Source Name xpt Next

- 2. In the *PK Submit* dialog, make sure the **Standard** and **Version** menus are set to **SEND** and **3.1**, respectively.
- 3. Select PC.xpt as the FileType.
- 4. Click Browse, navigate to <Phoenix_install_dir>\application\Examples\PK Submit\Supporting files\Example1, select PC.xpt, and click Open.
- 5. Click Next.

Map the variables

The next step in the process involves lining up variables in the input dataset with those in the PC domain. The variables are marked as either being required for the PC domain creation or optional. The example PC.xpt file we are using includes variables that are recognized by PK Submit as PC variables and, therefore, they are automatically mapped. There is no need for us to perform any manual mapping of the dataset variables to the PC variables.

Variables that are not required for the PC domain but are needed for the NCA can also be mapped at this point, such as Dose Amounts, Dose Units, and Routes of Administration. For this example, we will map these items in a later step.

Note: If a variable is manually mapped, the database installed with the application will remember the mapping and automatically map that variable the next time it is encountered.

C.1.											
Colun	Required		PC.xpt								- 8
STUDYID	Nequireu	STU	DYID								
USUBJID	NCA Required	USU	JBJID								
PCTEST	NCA Required	PCT	EST								
PCORRES	Required	PCC	ORRES								
PCORRESU	Required	PCC	RRESU								
PC Result wor	ksheet										
STUDYID T	DOMAIN	T	USUBJID T	POOLID	T	PCSEQ	T	PCGRPID	Ŧ	PCREFID	Y.
Test Study1	PC		Test Study1-1001A				1				
Test Study1	PC		Test Study1-1001A				2				
Test Study1	PC		Test Study1-1001A				3				
Test Study1	PC		Test Study1-1001A				4				
Test Study1	PC		Test Study1-1001A				5				
Test Study1	PC		Test Study1-1001A		1		6				3
		A	Add ADSL or DM Var	iables	Data Wi	zard	Data Con	verter Pre	evious	Nex	đ

All required variables must be mapped to complete the process. Our example input file contains all of the variables that are required for the PC domain so we can proceed to the next step.

1. Click Next.

During the PC domain creation process, PK Submit checks the data and will warn you of errors that will occur during the validation step. For example, if the USUBJID does not contain the studyID string, which is required for compliant PC domain, you will see a message and be given the option to have the PK Submit concatenate the study ID with the USUBJID to bring it into compliance.

Select NCA keys

1. For this example, we will use the default NCA keys. Click Next.

Merge dosing with concentration information

Dosing and concentration information can be merged by mapping the appropriate variables in the previous step, by entering values directly in the table, or by loading an $EX \cdot XPT$ file. For this example, we will load an example file.

Source O Build Intern O Import EX.X	al Workshe PT Browse	et 	From Data Fo	lder				
USE EXDOSE for Dose Amount O Enter Dose Amount Manually								
	sheet PCTEST	•	PCSPEC	•				
Test Study1-1001A	ABC-111		PLASMA	-	1			
Test Study1-1001A	ABC-111		PLASMA		2			
Test Study1-1001A	ABC-111		PLASMA		3			
Test Study1-1001A	ABC-111		PLASMA		37			
Test Study1-1001A	ABC-111		PLASMA		38			
<						>		
	Dat	a Wizar	d Previo		-	Vevt		

- 1. Select the Import EX.XPT option.
- 2. Select the Use EXDOSE for Dose Amount option.
- 3. Click Browse, navigate to <Phoenix_install_dir>\application\Examples\PK Submit\Supporting files\Example1, select EX.xpt and click Open.

If the merge is performed successfully, PK Submit will tell you the number of rows of data were imported. Click **OK**.

4. Click Next.

Exclude data

Set up a filter to exclude all day 1 data from the NCA analysis.

Concentrat	ion Exclusio	n		Exclusion typ	e	
		USUBJID	^	🗹 . Include	Flag in PC.XP	Т
Test Study1	PC	Test Study1-1		Exclude	from Statistic	/
Test Study1	PC	Test Study1-1		Exclude	from NCA	
Test Study1	PC	Test Study1-1		Exclude	from PC.XPT	
Test Study1	PC	Test Study1-1		Select a Varia	ble	
Test Study1	PC	Test Study1-1		PCNOMD	Y	-
Test Study1	PC	Test Study1-1				
Test Study1	PC	Test Study1-1			Operation -	
Test Study1	PC	Test Study1-1			✓ =	_
Test Study1	PC	Test Study1-1				
Test Study1	PC	Test Study1-1		Enter Value		
Test Study1	PC	Test Study1-1		1		
Test Study1	PC	Test Study1-1				
Test Study1	PC	Test Study1-1		Enter Reason	I	
Test Study1	PC	Test Study1-1	×	Exclude a	II day 1 from	NCA.
STUDYID	T DOM		R			
				Exclu	ide	Save Criteria
				Clear c	riteria	Load Criteria
				Comr	ment	
<			>	Unc	lo	
	Time Deviat	tion Rules	v	isualization	Previous	Next

- 1. Check the Exclude from Statistic and Exclude from NCA boxes.
- 2. From the Select a Variable pulldown, scroll down the list and choose PCNOMDY.
- 3. Check the box for = under **Operation**.
- 4. In the Enter Value field, type 1.
- 5. Type the following in the Enter Reason or Comment field: Exclude all day 1 from NCA.
- 6. Click Exclude.

Rows that meet the criteria (row 1, in this example) will be shaded pink to indicate that they are marked for exclusion.

Add a comment

On the same Concentration Exclusion page, add a comment about the data collected on day 2.

Concentrat	ion Exclusio	n	Exclusion type	
		USUBJID	Include Flag in PC.XPT	
Test Study1	PC	Test Study1-1	Exclude from Statistic	
Test Study1	PC	Test Study1-1	Exclude from NCA	
Test Study1	PC	Test Study1-1	Exclude from PC.XPT	
Test Study1	PC	Test Study1-1	Select a Variable	
Test Study1	PC	Test Study1-1	PCNOMDY	_ 1.
Test Study1	PC	Test Study1-1		
Test Study1	PC	Test Study1-1	Operation	2.
Test Study1	PC	Test Study1-1		
Test Study1	PC	Test Study1-1		
Test Study1	PC	Test Study1-1	Enter Value	-3.
Test Study1	PC	Test Study1-1		
Test Study1	PC	Test Study1-1		
Test Study1	PC	Test Study1-1	Enter Reason	_4.
Test Study1	PC	Test Study1-1	First full profile day.	
STUDYID	T DOM			
			Exclude Save Criteria	
			Clear criteria Load Criteria	- 5.
			Comment	
<			> Undo	
	Time Deviat	tion Rules	Visualization Previous Next	

- 1. From the Select a Variable pulldown, scroll down the list and choose PCNOMDY again.
- 2. Check the box for = under **Operation**.
- 3. In the Enter Value field, type 2.
- 4. Type the following in the Enter Reason or Comment field: First full profile day.
- 5. Click Comment.

Adding comments generates a CO domain.

Test Study1	PC	Tes ∨		
<		>		
STUDYID		<u>^</u>		
Test Study1	со	PC		
Test Study1	со	РС	Exclude	Save Criteria
Test Study1	со	PC		
Test Study1	со	PC	Clear criteria	Load Criteria
Test Study1	со	РС	Comment	
Test Study1	со	<mark>ر</mark> کر	Undo	
<		>	Undo	
Time Dev	iation Rules Vi	sualiza	tion Previous	Next
			6.	

6. Click Next.

Finish setting up NCA

ecify Dose T	ype		Specify Model Ty	pe	N	ICA Keys Selection
PCTEST	EXROUTE	DoseType	PCSPEC	ModelType	T	USUBJID
ABC-111	ORAL GAVAGE	Extravascular ~	PLASMA	PLASMA (200 -	202)	DOTEST
						Peresi
						PCSPEC
						VISITNUM
ecify Analys	is Variables					
pecify A	Analysis Va	ariables				
ime colun	nn:	PCTPTNUM	₹ h			
oncentrat	ion column:	PCSTRESN	*			
parse NCA	λ:					
Compute C	oncentration	s at Times:]		
	_					

1. Select Extravascular from the Dose Type pulldown.

The **Terminology Mapping** button will show how the terminology for specimen and units are being mapped. As mentioned earlier in the example, this mapping is remembered by the database and only needs to be mapped once. However, the complete terminology list is always available through the *Controlled Terminology Mapping* dialog for you to select from.

2. Click Submit.

The PC domain is complete and a Phoenix project is automatically created, with a workflow that has an NCA object preconfigured according to specifications made in PK Submit.



Create the PP domain

The PP domain can be generated from an NCA, typically the Final Parameters output worksheet. The NCA object set up by PK Submit is ready to execute. Unless you want to review the slope selector, you can simply run the NCA.

Specify the data for the PP domain

- 1. Rename the project as Example1.
- 2. Execute the NCA object.



3. Select **PK Submit > Create PP Domain** from the Phoenix menu.

PK Submit will automatically select the Final Parameters result worksheet when there is an open project with an executed NCA object available (such as in this example). Otherwise, use the Browse button.

4. Click OK.

Select PK parameters

1. Using the **Select >** and **< Remove** buttons, move all of the parameters to the Selected PK Parameters list except for **N_Samples** and **No_points_lambda_z**.

PK Parameters		Selected PK Parameters	· ^
N_Samples		AUCINF_D_obs	
No_points_lambda_z		AUCINF_D_pred	
	Select >	AUCINF_obs	
		AUCINF_pred	
	< Remove	AUClast	
		AUClast_D	
		AUMC_%Extrap_obs	
		AUMC_%Extrap_pred	~
	Addit	tional PK Parameters Next	t

2. Click Next.

Exclude parameters

For this example, we will not set up any exclusion criteria.

PK Parame	ter	s Exclusio	on		Exclusion type
USUBJID	Y	PCTEST	10	Parameter Selection	Exclude from PP
Test Study1-100	1A	ABC-111	5	Amount	Exclude from Statistic
Test Study1-100	1A	ABC-111	8		Select the column for criteria
Test Study1-100	1A	ABC-111	8	AUC_%Extrap_obs	
Test Study1-100	1A	ABC-111	\$	AUC_%Extrap_pred	
Test Study1-100	1A	ABC-111	F.	AUCall	Operation
STUDYID	D		RI	AUCINF_D_obs	•
Test Study1	co)	PP:	AUCINF_D_pred	□ <
Test Study1	co)	PP	AUCINE	Enter Value
Test Study1	CO)	PP	AUCINF_ODS	
Test Study1	CO)	PP	AUCINF_pred	
Test Study1	CC)	PP	AUClast	Enter Reason
Test Study1	CO)	PP:		
Test Study1	CC)	PP: v	AUClast_D	
c					Enslude Coursestante
				Terminology Mapp	ing Previous Submit

1. Click Submit.

The PP domain is created.



Create RELREC domain

1. Select **PK Submit > Create RELREC and POOLDEF Domains** from the Phoenix menu.

Since this was not a sparse study, there will not be a POOLDEF domain.



Create files required for submission

1. Select **PK Submit > Create Submission Files** from the Phoenix menu.

🏹 Define parameters		—		\times
Enter Study Name:	Test Example 1			
Enter Study Description:				
Enter Protocol Name:				
	L			
			0	К

- 2. Enter Test Example 1 as the Study Name.
- 3. Click OK.



The Study Data Reviewer's Guide is created and stored in the **Documents > docx** subfolder of the Object Browser. The template for this document is available on the PhUSE website. PK Submit automatically populates the document with most of the information needed for submission.

The Define.xlsx file is created and stored in the **Documents > xlsx** subfolder. This Excelformatted file contains all of the information you find in the Define.xml file for the study in the **Documents > xml** subfolder.

Export submission files

- 1. Select **PK Submit > Export Submission Files** from the Phoenix menu.
- 2. In the file browser, select the location in which to save the files and click **OK**. In the following image, a folder named Example1 was selected.



The study information is ready for electronic submission and the process is complete.

SDTM example

This example uses the input of a PC.xls file. Using PK Submit, a full set of CDISC domains in SDTM 3.2 format will be generated and an NCA project will be created and set up to use the domains. At the end of the example, you will have a complete set of files for the study that are ready for electronic submission.

The major steps in this example include:

Create the PC domain Create the PP domain Create RELREC domain Create files required for submission Export submission files

Create the PC domain

Specify the dataset for the PC domain



- 1. Select **PK Submit > PC > Create PC Domain** from the Phoenix menu.
- 2. In the *PK Submit* dialog, set the **Standard** and **Version** menus are set to **SDTM** and **3.2**, respectively.
- 3. With the **FileType** set to **Concentration file(s)**, click **Browse**, navigate to <Phoenix_install_dir>\application\Examples\PK Submit\Supporting files\Example1, select **PC.xls**, then click **Open**.
- 4. Check the **Unit Row** box to combine the first (column names) and second (units) rows of the Excel file.
- 5. Click Next.

Map the variables

The next step in the process involves lining up the variables in the input dataset with those in the PC domain. The variables are marked as either being required for the PC domain creation or optional. Many of the variables in the example PC.xls file are recognized by PK Submit as PC variables and, therefore, they are automatically mapped. There is one, however, that we need to manually map: PCRFTDTC.

1. Scroll down and locate PCRFTDTC in the PC.xls column

Map PC Variables					
Column		PC.xls			^
	•	PCELTM			
	2.	PCTPTREF			J
		PCRFTDTC			~
PC Result workshee	et				
			PCGRPID	. .	^
X1-1 Col	umn	PC.xls		SMA-1	
				ISIMIA-1	
X1-1 DC SE_UNIT	Optional			ASMA-1	
X1-1 X1-1	Optional			ASMA-1 ASMA-1	
X1-1 DC SE_UNIT X1-1 R UTE	Optional			ASMA-1 ASMA-1 ASMA-1	
X1-1 DC SE_UNIT X1-1 R UTE X1-1 PCRFTDTC2	Optional Optional NCA	PCRFTDTC		ASMA-1 ASMA-1 ASMA-1 ASMA-1	
X1-1 X1-1 X1-1 X1-1 X1-1 Add	Optional Optional	PCRFTDTC OMAIN		ASMA-1 ASMA-1 ASMA-1 ASMA-1 Next	
X1-1 X1-1 X1-1 X1-1 X1-1 R UTE X1-1 PCRFTDTC2 Add	Optional Optional	PCRFTDTC DOMAIN PCGRPID		ASMA-1 ASMA-1 ASMA-1 ASMA-1 Next	

- 2. Click the left arrow in the PCRFTDTC cell. This moves the row up to the end of the mapped variables.
- Scroll up to locate moved PCRFTDTC cell. The PCRFTDTC data is now mapped to a column named PCRFTDTC2.
- *Note:* If a variable is manually mapped, PK Submit stores the mapping in a database to allow automatic mapping of the variable the next time it is encountered. The database file is C:\Users\<user-name>\Documents\Certara\PKSubmit\PK Submit.db.

All required variables are now mapped, so we can proceed to the next step.

4. Click Next.

During the PC domain creation process, PK Submit checks the data and will warn you of errors that will occur during the validation step. For example, if the USUBJID does not contain the studyID string, which is required for compliant PC domain, you will see a message and be given the option to have the PK Submit concatenate the study ID with the USUBJID to bring it into compliance.

5. Click **Yes** when asked about concatenating the study ID and USUBJID.

Select NCA keys

1. For this example, we will use the default NCA keys. Click Next.

Merge dosing with concentration information

Dosing and concentration information can be merged by mapping the appropriate variables in the previous step, by entering values directly in the table, or by loading an EX.xpt file. For this example, we will enter our data directly.

1.	Courses					
	Source					
	Build Internal V	Vorksheet				
	Import EX.XPT	Browse Load Fr	om Data Fol	lder		
		for Dose Amount	ł			
	Enter Dece /	Amount Manually				
	Chier Dose A	Amount Manually				
		3				
2	Dosing Worksh	eet 🦯				
2.	Dose Amount	T Dose U	nit T	TAU 🝸	Infusion Dur	ation 🝸 🛆
		15 mg/kg				
4.						
						~
	<					>
			Data Wiz	ard	Previous	Next
			- Cata Wiz			
						5.

- 1. Leave the Build Internal Worksheet option selected.
- 2. Locate the **Dose Amount** column in the Dosing Worksheet and enter 15 in the first cell.
- 3. In the **Dose Unit** column enter mg/kg in the first cell.
- 4. Select the two cells you entered information into and drag the lower right corner down to copy the values to all cells in the two columns.
- 5. Click Next.

Exclude data

Set up a filter to exclude data where PCTPT = 0h from the Statistics calculations.

	Cor	ncentration	n Exclusion				Exclusion type	
		PCDY	РСТРТ	T PCTPTN	υм	Y [^	Exclude from Statistic Exclude from NCA	
	19		1 0h			0 P	Exclude from NCA Exclude from PC XPT	
	20		1 0h			0 P		1.
	21		1 0h			0 P	Select a Variable	
	22		1 0h			0 P	РСТРТ	
		PCDY 🝸	РСТРТ 🝸	PCTPTNUM	T	P	C	2.
4	4	1	0h		0	PTOH	Operation	
4	5	1	0h		0	PTOH	✓ =	
4	6	1	0h		0	PTOH		
4	7	1	0h		0	PTOH		3.
4	B	1	0h		0	PTOH	enter value	
4	9	1	0h		0	PTOH	UN	
5	0	1	0h		0	PTOH	Enter Reason	4.
5	1	1	30h		30	PT30H	at PCTPT = 0h from statistics.	
52	2	1	30h		30	PT30H		_
5	3	1	30h		30	PT30H		5.
54	4	1	30h		30	PT30H	Exclude Save Criteria	
							Clear criteria Load Criteria	6.

- 1. Check the **Exclude from Statistics** box and clear other boxes at the top of the dialog.
- 2. From the Select a Variable pulldown, scroll down the list and choose PCTPT.
- 3. Check the box for = under **Operation**.
- 4. In the Enter Value field, type 0h.
- Type the following in the Enter Reason field: Exclude data at PCTPT = 0h from statistics.
- 6. Click Exclude.

Rows that meet the criteria will be shaded pink to indicate that they are marked for exclusion.

Define a time deviation rule

In this example, we want to identify any data whose sample time deviation is either:

5 minutes or more Or 98.33% or more of the time deviation

- 1. Click **Time Deviation Rules** at the bottom of the page.
- 2. From the Select Dosing Data Time Column menu, select PCRFTDTC2.
- 3. In the Rules column, click Add Rule near the bottom.
- 4. In the newly added row, enter M5M98_33 as the **Name**.
- 5. In the Rules column, change the **Deviation** value to 5.
- 6. In the Rules column, change the **Percentage** value to 98.33%.

7. Click OK.

In the Data Exclusion table, scroll to the last few columns. The Time Deviation Rule computes values and appends columns for ActualTime, AnalysisEndTime, DeviationPK, PercentDeviation, and DeviationRuleApplied.

Scroll down the rows of data to find the data flagged in the DeviationRuleApplied column.

			2.			
Select Variabl	es to calculate Actua	al Time				
Select Samp	Select Sample Collection Date Time Column: PCDTC -					
Select Dosir	ng Date Time Colum	in: PC	RFTDTC2 +	$\mathbf{\mathfrak{D}}$		
Select Nom	inal Time Column:	PC	TPTNUM 👻			
Name	Lower	Upper	Rules			
	Is Specified	Is Specified	Deviation: 30.00	min 🔻		
Default			Percentage: 10.00%			
	Is Specified	Is Specified	Deviation: 5.00	min 💌		
M5M98_33			Percentage: 98.33%			
Add Rule						
				ОК		
3.	4.		5. 6.	7.		

8. Click Next.

Finish	setting	up	NCA
--------	---------	----	-----

peerly bose type		Specify Model Type	NCA Keys Selection
PCTEST EXROUTE Cmpd2	DosoType Extravascular *	PCSPEC T ModelType T PLASMA PLASMA (200 - 202)	USUBJID PCTEST PCSPEC VISITNUM
pecify Analysis Variables Specify Analysis Va	ariables		
Time column:	PCTPTNUM	▼ h	
	PCSTRESN	*	
Concentration column:			
Concentration column: Compute Concentration	is at Times:		

- 1. Select Extravascular from the Dose Type pulldown.
- 2. Click Submit.

The PC domain is complete and a Phoenix project is automatically created, with a workflow that has an NCA object preconfigured according to specifications made in PK Submit.



Create the PP domain

The PP domain can be generated from an NCA, typically the Final Parameters output worksheet. The NCA object set up by PK Submit is ready to execute. Unless you want to review the slope selector, you can simply run the NCA.

Specify the data for the PP domain

- 1. Rename the project as Example2.
- 2. Execute the NCA object.
- 3. Select **PK Submit > Create PP Domain** from the Phoenix menu.

Browse	
Parameter Worksheet	
Example2.Workflow.NCA PLASMA.Results.Final Parameters	×
OK Car	icel

PK Submit will automatically select the Final Parameters result worksheet when there is an open project with an executed NCA object available (such as in this example). Otherwise, use the Browse button.

4. Click OK.

Select PK parameters

1. For this example, we will keep the default list of Selected PK Parameters and click **Next**.

Exclude parameters

PK Paramete	ers Exclusio	on	Parameter Selection	Exclusion type	
USUBJID T	PCTEST T	PCSI ^	AUClast	Exclude from PP	
X1-1-X11-1-101	Cmpd2	PLASMA		Exclude from Statistic	
X1-1-X11-1-101	Cmpd2	PLASMA	Cmax	Select the column for criteria	
X1-1-X11-1-101	Cmpd2	PLASMA	Tmax		
X1-1-X11-1-101	Cmpd2	PLASMA			
X1-1-X11-1-101	Cmpd2	PLASMA		Operation	
X1-1-X11-1-101	Cmpd2	PLASMA		=	
X1-1-X11-1-102	Cmpd2	PLASMA			
X1-1-X11-1-102	Cmpd2	PLASMA		_ <	
X1-1-X11-1-102	Cmpd2	PLASMA		Enter Value	
X1-1-X11-1-102	Cmpd2	PLASMA			
X1-1-X11-1-102	Cmpd2	PLASMA			
X1-1-X11-1-102	Cmpd2	PLASMA		Enter Reason	
<		>			
STUDYID	T	DOMAIN			
				Exclude Save Criteria	
				Comment Load Criteria	
				Clear criteria	
<		>		Undo	
			Terminology Mappi	ng Previous Submit	

1. In the *PK Parameter Exclusion* page, click **Submit**.

The PP domain is created.


Create RELREC domain

1. Select **PK Submit > Create RELREC and POOLDEF Domains** from the Phoenix menu.



Since this was not a sparse study, no POOLDEF domain is generated.

Create files required for submission

1. Select **PK Submit > Create Submission Files** from the Phoenix menu.

P Define parameters	_		×
Enter Study Name:	PK Submit Example 2 - X1-1	Study	
Enter Study Description:	X1-1 Testing Cmpd2		
Enter Protocol Name:			
		0	、

- 2. Enter PK Submit Example 2 X1-1 Study as the Study Name.
- 3. Enter X1-1 Testing Cmpd2 as the Study Description.
- 4. Leave the Protocol Name blank.
- 5. Click OK.



The Study Data Reviewer's Guide is created and stored in the **Documents > docx** subfolder of the Object Browser. The template for this document is available on the PhUSE website. PK Submit automatically populates the document with most of the information needed for submission.

The Define.xlsx file is created and stored in the **Documents > xlsx** subfolder. This Excelformatted file contains all of the information you find in the Define.xml file for the study in the **Documents > xml** subfolder.

Export submission files

- 1. Select PK Submit > Export Submission Files from the Phoenix menu.
- 2. In the file browser, select the location in which to save the files and click **OK**. In the following image, a folder named Example2 was selected.



The study information is ready for electronic submission and the process is complete.